

Tel: 02 8004 0460 www.auswideconsulting.com.au info@auswideconsulting.com.au ABN 13 143 437 432

Traffic Impact and Parking Demand Assessment

Unit 44 of No. 9 Powells Road

Brookvale NSW 2100

Change of use to an artisan food and drink

Prepared for:	Sky Planning
Date Prepared:	March 2024
Prepared By	David Pavey B.E (Civil) Grad Dip LGE, LGE Cert. MAITPM. MIPWEA, Authorised SafeWork NSW - Prepare a Work Zone Plans - TCT1017730 Approved Consultant NSW Department Planning and Environment for Preparation of Traffic Management Plan
Revision:	2.1
Northern Beaches Council Development Application No	ТВА



Contents

COPYRIGHT	
INTRODUCTION	4
BACKGROUND AND EXISTING CONDITIONS	4
PUBLIC TRANSPORT	7
WALKABILITY	9
EXISTING DEVELOPMENT CHANGES	10
Operational Details	10
Hours of Operations	10
Staff Numbers	10
Number of Patrons	10
Access and Traffic	11
Parking	11
TRAFFIC IMPACTS OF THE PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT	11
NUMBER OF CAR PARKING SPACES REQUIRED FOR THE DEVELOPMENT	12
CAR PARKING DEMAND SURVEY	12
On-Street Public Parking Analysis	13
Off-Street Public Parking Analysis	13
CONCLUSIONS	15
APPENDIX A: SITE PLAN	16
APPENDIX B: PUBLIC PARKING, INVENTORY AND DEMAND,	17

List of Figures

FIGURE 1 LOCATION OF SUBJECT SITE (SOURCE: GOOGLE MAPS)	5
FIGURE 2 AERIAL VIEW OF SUBJECT PROPERTY (SOURCE: SKY PLANNING)	5
FIGURE 3 POWELLS RD ADJACENT TO THE DEVELOPMENT (SOURCE: GOOGLE MAPS)	6
Figure 4 Public Transport Maps	7
Figure 5 20 Min Walking Catchment Area (source: www.walkscore.com	9
FIGURE 7 SUMMARY OF PARKING THURSDAY 12 th October.2023	13
FIGURE 8 SUMMARY OF PARKING SATURDAY 14 TH OCTOBER 2023	13

List of Tables

TABLE 1 PUBLIC TRANSPORT SERVICE DETAILS	7
Table 2 Existing Development Car Parking Requirement Summary	12



COPYRIGHT

This report has been prepared by AusWide Consulting. Reproduction without written authority from AusWide Consulting is prohibited. Apart from any fair dealing for the purpose of private study, research, criticism, or review, as permitted under the Copyright Act 1968, no part of this report may be reproduced, transmitted, stored in a retrieval system, or adapted in any form or by any means (electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise) without written permission.

Restrictions on Use

This report has been prepared specifically for owners of Unit 44 of No. 9 Powells Road, Brookvale NSW as the client. No part of this report may be referred to or quoted in any way without the written approval of the author. No party other than the owners of 9 Powells Road, Brookvale NSW 2100 may rely upon representation in this report for any purpose whatsoever, and the author accepts no liability for any such party relying upon this report.

Limits of Report

This report considers the particular instructions and requirements of our client. AusWide Consulting has taken care in the preparation of this report. However, it neither accepts liability nor responsibility whatsoever in respect of:

- Any use of this report by a third party,
- Any third party whose interests may be affected by any decision made regarding the contents of this report, and/or
- Any conclusion drawn resulting from omission or lack of full disclosure by the client, or the clients' consultants.



INTRODUCTION

AusWide Consulting was engaged by Sky Planning to prepare a Traffic Impact and Parking Demand Assessment for its Change of use to an artisan food and drink at Papa Sayer's existing operations at Unit 44 of No. 9 Powells Road, Brookvale NSW 2100

This report will assess the implications of changes to the existing operation on parking in the area surrounding the site.

The following items have been included in the subsequent sections of this report:

- Public and active transport accessibility at the site;
- Number of car parking spaces required for the development;
- Car parking demand survey;
- expected traffic generation rates and their impact on the surrounding road network; and
- Conclusions of the above findings.

During the course of preparing this assessment, the subject site and its environment have been inspected, and all relevant parking data collected and analysed.

BACKGROUND AND EXISTING CONDITIONS

The subject site is located on Powells Rd in the suburb of Brookvale, which is approximately 16km northeast of Sydney's CBD.

The site falls within the Northern Beaches Council Local Government Area.

The use of the land immediately surrounding the subject site is primarily industrial in nature and mainly comprises industrial and/ or commercial developments.

The subject site is within a low – medium pedestrian activity area and is situated within the IN1Z Industrial 1 Zone.

Figure 1 (on the following page) presents a view of the subject site showing surrounding suburbs, whilst **Figure 2** (on the flowing page) presents an aerial view of the subject site showing surrounding roads and businesses.

Figure 3 (on page 6) provides a view of Powells Rd adjacent to the site.





Figure 1 Location of Subject Site (source: Google Maps)



Figure 2 Aerial view of Subject Property (source: Sky Planning)





Figure 3 Powells Rd Adjacent to the Development (Source: Google Maps)



PUBLIC TRANSPORT

The subject site is in an area that has significant access to public transport services that is within walking distance to the site Figure 4 (below) provides details of available routes. The closest public transport stop to the site, Pittwater Stop at Powells Rd, is approx. 290m away which is approximately a 2-minute walk. This stop provides several bus routes with services available throughout the day. Table 1 (below) summarises available routes within the vicinity and the frequency of the services operated on these routes.



Figure 4 Public Transport Maps

		- [-	nin]			ion	Nu	m) (4-6 pm) Off pea 4 2 service 5 2 Limited 5 2 Service 2 1 service 2 1 service 2 Limited 2 1 service 2 Limited	vice
Service	Location	Distance from subject site [m]	Walking time [min]	Origin	Destination	Route Description	AM Peak (7-9 am)		Off peak
193	Pittwater Rd at Orchard	290	2	Warringah Mall	Austlink	Via Frenchs	4	4	2 services
195	Rd bus stop	290	2	Austlink	Warringah Mall	Forest	4	5	per hour
176X	Sydenham Rd at	290	2	Dee Why	City Wynyard	Via North Curl Curl	-	3	Limited
1/07	Pittwater Rd bus stop	290	2	City Wynyard	Dee Why	(Express Service)	10	-	Services
177	Sydenham Rd at	290	2	Dee Why	Warringah Mall		-	2	1 service
1//	Pittwater Rd bus stop	290	2	Warringah Mall	Dee Why		-	2	per hour
177	Sydenham Rd at	200	2	Dee Why	City Wynyard	Via Wingala	9	-	Limited
177X	Pittwater Rd bus stop	290	2	City Wynyard	Dee Why	(Express Service)	-	3	Services
				Table 1 Publi	ic Transport Service D	etails			I



The Warringah Mall bus terminal also acts as a hub for the interchange of bus lines and is approx. 4 to 5 mins walk from the site.

Considering the land use as well as the location of public transport options, it is likely that many patrons will take bus services to and from the site.

A dedicated "RIDESHARE" pick up and drop off point in front of the brewery is kept clear at all times.



WALKABILITY

The locality was assessed for nearby features that would encourage staff and patrons to walk/cycle. The "walkability" of a site is a measure of its proximity to other facilities by walking and can be ascertained from *www.walkscore.com*. The subject site is rated as "Walkers Paradise" (meaning that daily errands do not require a car) and with a score of 91 out of 100 (obtained from the 'Walk Score' web tool), it provides a higher ranking to the average Sydney metropolitan score of 54 out of 100. **Figure 5** (below) demonstrates the 20-minute walking radius from the proposed development.



Figure 5 20 Min Walking Catchment Area (source: www.walkscore.com



EXISTING DEVELOPMENT CHANGES

The proposal seeks consent for the following change of use to an artisan food and

drink industry to allow for the following:

- Continuation of dinning inside and outside in the designated seating;
- Extra seating will be provided in the approved outdoor seating area to accommodate a total of 100 patrons seated (in and outside);
- Preparation, manufacturing and serving of Italian cuisine which includes woodfire pizza using inhouse made dough, using boutique ingredients and inhouse made pasta to be prepared and served to customers on premises and on a takeaway basis;
- Pasta will be made within the existing kitchen with a designated area for drying and separate area for storage and packaging of pasta;
- Retail sale of dried pasta manufactured on site, stored within storeroom and displayed in new cabinetry at the entry counter;
- Serving of alcohol to be consumed on site with meals; and
- The floor area is to remain the same size as previously approved.

Operational Details

The site's primary use will be for artisan food and drink as the business expands to allow for on-site food manufacturing of pasta and pizza dough and retail sales. The business will include a dedicated area to store and package the dry pasta to be sold to customers.

The site benefits from its services provided to the local community and other businesses within the complex.

Hours of Operations

The subject site will be operational specific to the times indicated below:

- Monday to Saturday: 9am to 12pm (Midnight)
- Sunday: 9am to 11pm

Staff Numbers

• A maximum of ten (10) staff members will be working at the site per day, spread across the day.

Number of Patrons

- A maximum of 100 patrons/customers will be able to be seated at the premises, both inside and outside within the designated and established outdoor seating area;
- Note: A maximum of 100 patrons at any one time is not likely to occur during the week and more likely on weekends; and
- The existing business has operated for last 10 years with a maximum of 75 capacity seating within the tenancy and outside.



Access and Traffic

Access to the premises is via a driveway ramp from Powells Road.

Parking

The existing parking arrangement include:

- One (1) parking space is to be retained on the subject site for parking by staff;
- Customer parking and general customer parking will continue on the street and within vacant shared parking spaces on the site, which are not utilised after business.

TRAFFIC IMPACTS OF THE PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT

The proposed development at the subject site includes the increase in the number of consulting rooms at an existing medical centre.

NSW RTA Guide to Traffic Generating Development (2002) document has found that for restaurants the

- Evening peak hour vehicle trips = 5 per 100 m₂ gross floor area.
- Daily vehicle trips = 60 per 100m₂ gross floor area.

The total gross floor area is approx. 200m² and consequently the total traffic flows anticipated as follows:

- Evening peak hour vehicle trips = 10.
- Daily vehicle trips =120.

Therefore, with a maximum of 10 trips per hour in total (existing operations plus increase in patronage) being generated this will have a very minor impact on the surrounding road network.



NUMBER OF CAR PARKING SPACES REQUIRED FOR THE DEVELOPMENT

In accordance with the *Warringah DCP Appendix 1 – Car Parking Requirement*, the existing development is classified as a restaurant. **Table 2** (below) summarises the parking requirements obtained from the DCP for the development including increased patronage.

Land Use	Given Rate from DCP	Car Parking Required	Parking Spaces Available
Restaurant	1 space per 3 patrons or 15 spaces per 100sqm GFA (whichever is greater)	For a maximum of 100 patrons, the car parking requirement is 33 spaces. For GFA of .approx. 200m2 requires 30 spaces	1 space available

Table 2 Existing Development Car Parking Requirement Summary

As observed in the table above, the development has a car parking shortfall of 32 parking spaces.

However, in addition to the 1 space available for this property, there are 253 additional on-site parking spots adjacent to the site during their operating hours, which is often outside normal business hours of the adjacent businesses.

Permission has been sought and given by other adjacent businesses to use their parking spaces at weekends and out of hours.

A car parking demand survey was conducted to determine the parking availabilities around the area.

CAR PARKING DEMAND SURVEY

As a part of this study, parking utilisation surveys were undertaken to determine the public parking occupancy on:

- Thursday 12th October between 11.00am 11.00 pm at one-hour intervals within approximately 200 m walking distance from the subject site.
- Saturday 14th October between 11.00 am 11:00 pm at one-hour intervals within approximately 200 m walking distance from the subject site.

Full results of this survey are presented in **Appendix B**.

Figures 6 and **7** (on the following page) provide a summary of the parking survey and the findings are discussed in the following sections.





Figure 6 Summary of Parking Thursday 12th October.2023



Figure 7 Summary of Parking Saturday 14th October 2023

On-Street Public Parking Analysis

The parking observations showed that there are approximately 295 on-street available parking spaces within 250m of the subject site.

Generally, the occupancy for these spaces are:

- between 63%. 95% on Thursday, and
- between 61%– 78% on Saturday.

These percentages indicate medium-high occupancy throughout the day with the highest occupancy (95%) observed at 1:00pm on Thursday.

The occupancy for this area during operational hours (of this business) is approx. 67% on a Thursday and 78% on a Saturday, meaning that approx. 140 on-street spaces are available during these times.

Off-Street Public Parking Analysis

The parking observations showed that there are approximately 253 off-street available parking spaces adjacent to business.



Generally, the occupancy for these spaces are:

- between 23% to 78% on Thursday, and
- 15%– 23% on Saturday.

These percentages indicate medium occupancy during daytime hours on weekdays, but a low occupancy after normal business hours on weekdays and on weekends, with the highest occupancy (78%) observed at 1:00pm and 2 pm on Thursday.

The occupancy for this area during the operational hours (of this business) is approx. 67% on a Thursday and 15% on a Saturday.

It should be noted that adjacent 7 Day Brewing Co operations also use the available on and off street car parking spaces, but as the occupancy (of these spaces) is low, it is not anticipated that the two business operating in tandem will affect the overall supply of car parking, particularly as many customers will take advantage of both business during the one visit.



CONCLUSIONS

Based on the assessment presented in this report, it is considered that:

- The site has excellent access to the local area through public transport;
- The site has a walkability score of 91 which indicates that it is an area of "Walkers Paradise" (meaning that daily errands do not require a car). This score provides a higher ranking to the average Sydney metropolitan score of 54 out of 100;
- Using parking rates found within the Warringah DCP, the existing development will require a total
 of 33 car parking spaces. With 1 space provided on-site, there is a shortfall of 32 spaces. This
 requirement is deemed excessive when considering the land use and the current method of
 transportation observed from existing patrons;
- A car parking demand survey was conducted to determine available parking within 200m of the subject site. Assessing the locality of the site, there are approximately 425 on and off-street car parking spaces available for the proposed development in its normal business operations;
- The parking survey results indicates that parking space occupancy rates are low and therefore there is a sufficient amount of car spaces available for staff and patrons to utilise despite the increase of patrons; and
- The increase in patronage/ available seats will generate a minor amount of additional trips and as such will have very little impact on the surrounding street network.

In conclusion, this study indicates that the proposed development is not envisaged to have adverse impact on the surrounding traffic or parking conditions.

Therefore, the existing development changes should be supported on traffic and parking grounds.



APPENDIX A: SITE PLAN





APPENDIX B: PUBLIC PARKING, INVENTORY AND DEMAND,

THURSDAY 12th October2023

Parking Dece:	The s day.	ncy Survey 120 date r 2023	North Contract Street																
Loca pon: CPS:	-33.766530	Road, Brookuale D, 151273204																	
Nanther: Cuscom er:	Fhe																		
				<u> </u>			1	Г				Par	king (ccupa	incy				-
Public Parking (1/0)	Map Ref	Street	Section	Side	Restriction	Clear Way	Capacity	11:00	12:00	8	14:00				107	19:00	8	8	8
2.2										13:00	5 1	15:00	16:00	17:00	18:00	_	20:00	21:00	22:00
0		Orchard Rd	Pittwater Rd to Chaitton Ln	N	No Stopping 1P8:30am-6pmMon-Fri ,8:30am-12:30pm Sat		1	0	8	0 8	0 7	0 6	0 4	0	0	0 2	0 4	0 3	0 3
D					No Stopping		2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	Ð	Ð	0	D	0
D			Chaitton Ln to Mitchell Rd	N	No Stopping		1	0	0	0	D	0	Ð	0	Ð	D	0	0	D
1					Disabled 1P 8:30am-6pm Mon-Fri , 8:30am-12:30pm Sat		2	0	0 17	0 17	0 16	0	0 14	0 14	1	1	0 15	0 15	0 14
0					No Stopping		1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	D	0	0	0	0
0			Mitchell Rd to Powells Ln	s	No Stopping		1	0	0	0	Ð	0	0	0	D	0	0	0	0
1					1P83Dam-6pmMon-Fri,83Dam-1230pm Sat		28	28	28	27	27	23	23	24	18	22	24	23	21
0			Powella Ln to Pittwater Rd	s	No Stopping No Stopping		2	0	0	0	0 0	0 0	0	0	0 0	0	0	0	0
1					1P830am-6pmMon-Fri,830am-1230pm Sat		5	5	5	4	4	1	2	2	2	1	1	1	1
0					No Stopping		1	D	0	Ð	0	0	0	0	0	ß	0	0	Ð
0		Mitchell Rd	Orohard Rd to Wattle Rd	E	No Stopping 1P830am-6pmMon-Fri ,830am-1230pm Sat		1	0 9	0 10	0 10	0 11	0	0 11	0 7	9	9 9	0	0	0 11
0				2	No Stopping		1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	D	0	0	D
1					1P 8:30am-6pm Mon-Fri , 8:30am-12:30pm Sat		9	6	7	7	6	6	4	2	3	6	4	4	4
0			New Data D	1122	No Stopping		1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	8	0	0	0
0			Wattle Rd to Powells Rd	W	No Stopping Unrestricted		1	0	0 12	0 11	0 11	0 10	9	0	0 9	0	0	0 11	0
D					No Stopping		1	0	0	0	0	0	D	0	D	0	0	0	0
0			Powells Rd to Orchard Rd	w	No Stopping		1	0	0	0	8	8	0	0	D	D	0	0	0
1					Unrestricted		13	13	13	13	13	10	9	11	10	10	10	10	10
0		Powells Rd	Mitchell Rotto Powells Ln	s	No Stopping No Stopping		1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
1					8P 8am-8pm Everyday		6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	5	5	6	5	5
1					Mail Zone		1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	D	0	0	0
1				e	8P 8am-6pm Everyday 8P 8am-6pm Everyday90D Angle Parking		13 29	11 28	12 28	13 29	13 29	12 17	7 19	8 20	12 21	11 20	11 21	12 22	10 22
0					No Stopping		1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
0			Powells Lnto Mitchell Rd	N	No Stopping		1	0	0	D	0	0	0	0	D	Ð	0	0	D
1					8P 8am-6pm Everyday	No Parking 6am-Midnight Wed-Fri , 12pm-	18	16	16	17	16	16	14	10	10	13	11	11	7
1					Unrestricted 8P Sam-6pm Everyday	Midnight Sat, 6pm-10pm Sun	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0 2	0	0	0 2
0					No Stopping		1	0	0	0	8	8	0	0	0	D	0	D	0
1		Car Park - 9 Powells Rd	Ground Level		Unrestricted		130	130	122	125	129	122	130	47	45	49	47	40	37
1		2000 00 10 M	RoofTop	w	Unrestricted		123	71 0	74	72	69 0	54 0	67 0	30 0	25 0	22	20	20	20 0
0		Powells Ln	Orchard Rid to Powells Rid	00	No Parking No Stopping		8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
0			Powells Rd to Orchard Rd	E	No Stopping		12	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
0		Wattle Rd	Short St to Mitchell Rd	N	No Stopping		1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	D	0	0	0
1				6 - 13	Unrestricted No Stopping		8	8	8	8	8	5	5 0	5	5	4	5	4	4
0			Mitchell Rd to Brookvale Self Storage	N	No Stopping		1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	D	0	0	0	0
1					2P830am-6pmMon-Fri,830am-1230pm Sat		5	3	3	3	3	0	0	1	1	D	0	1	D
1					8P 8am-8pm Everyday		16	13	15 0	15	14	12	10	3	4	2 0	2	3	2
0			Opp Brookvale Self Storage to Short St	s	No Stopping No Stopping		1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	D
1					Unrestricted		15	15	15	15	15	14	11	11	10	10	10	10	10
1					1P8:30am-8pmMon-Fri,8:30am-12:30pm Sat		2	D	1	2	2	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	D
1				<u> </u>	Unrestricted No Stopping		5 1	5	4	4	4	3	4	4	4	4 0	3	4	2
0		Short St	Wattle Rd to Amourin St	E	No Stopping		1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	D	0	0	0
1					Urrestricted		5	5	5	5	5	4	5	4	4	4	4	4	4
0				1.596	No Stopping		1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	D
0			Amourin St to William St	E	No Stopping Unrestricted		1	0 9	0 9	0 9	0 9	0 8	0 7	0 8	0 7	0 6	0	0	0
0					No Stopping		1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	D	0	0	0	0
			William St to Wattle Rd	w	No Stopping		1	0	0	0	0	8	Ð	Ð	D	D	0	0	Ð
0				12 14	Unrestricted		20	20	20	20	20	18	17	14	15	15	15	14	15
0					No Stopping		1	0	0	D	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	D D
0		Amourin St	Short St to 48 Amourin St	N	No Stopping		3												5
0 1 0		Amourin St	Short St to 48 Amourin St	N	No Stopping Unrestricted		16	16	16	16	16	15	14	12	12	8	11	10	10
0 1 0 0 1 0		Amourin St			Unrestricted No Stopping		1	0	D	0	0	0	Ð	D	12 0	ß	0	D	0
0 1 0 1 1 0		Amourin St :	Short St to 48 Amouin St 36 Amouin St to Short St	N S	Linestricted No Stopping No Stopping		1	0	0	0	0 0	0	0	0	12 0 0	0	0	0	0
0 1 0 0 1 0		Arrouin St			Unrestricted No Stopping		1	0	D	0	0	0	Ð	D	12 0	ß	0	D	0
0 1 0 1 0 0 0 1	PUBLIC	Amouin St			Urestricted No Stopping No Stopping Urestricted		1 1 17	0 0 17	0 0 17	0 0 17	0 0 17	0 0 17	0 0 14	0 0 15	12 0 0 7	0 0 8	0 0 11	0 0 11	0 0 10
0 1 0 1 0 0 0 1	PUBLIC				Urestricted No Stopping No Stopping Urestricted		1 1 17	0 0 17 0	0 0 17 0	0 0 17 0	0 0 17 0	0 0 17 0	0 14 0	0 0 15 0	12 D D 7 D	0 0 8 0	0 0 11 0	0 0 11 0	0 0 10 0



SATURDAY 14th October 2023

						1												
Public	Map Ref	Street	Section	Side	Restriction	Clear Way	Capacity				Maranal			0ccup	1	_	-	Toron
(10)					Pressent and me			11:00	12:00	13:00	14:00	15:00	16:00	17:00	18:00	19:00	20:00	21:00
0		Orchard Rd	Pittwater Rd to Charlton Ln	N	No Stopping 1P8:30am-6pm Mon-Fri,8:30am-12:30pm Sat		1	0 5	0 6	0	0 5	0 5	0	0 6	0 5	0 4	0 5	0 5
0					No Stopping		2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
0			Charlton Ln to Mitchel Rd	N	No Stopping		1	0	0	0	D	0	D	0	0	D	0	0
1					Disabled		2	0	1	1	1	0	D	0	0	0	0	0
1					1P8:30am-6pmMon-Fri,8:30am-12:30pm Sat		17	12	13	13	14	14		-	10	10	10	11
0	-		Mitchell Rotto Powels Ln	s	No Stopping No Stopping		1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0	0	0
1	-		NUCCHEN POLID POWERS EN	•	No supping 1P83Dam-6pm Mon-Fri,83Dam-123Dpm Sat		28	24	26	22	22	14	15		16	16	14	15
0					No Stopping		2	D	0	0	D	0	0	Ð	D	0	D	0
0			Powela Ln to Pittwater Rd	s	No Stopping		1	D	D	0	0	0	0	0	D	D	0	D
1					1P8:30am-6pm Mon-Fri ,8:30am-12:30pm Sat		5	4	2	3	4	3	2	5	4	2	3	4
0					No Stopping		1	D	0	0	0	0	-	0	0	Û	0	0
0	-	Mitchell Rd	Orchard Rd to Wattle Rd	E	No Stopping 1P830am-6pmMon-Fri,830am-1230pm Sat		1	0 5	0 5	0	0 4	0	0	9	9	0 9	0 9	0
0	-				No Stopping		1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	D	0	0
1					1P830am-6pmMon-Fri,830am-1230pm Sat		9	5	4	6	6	6	5	4	5	5	5	6
0					No Stopping		1	0	0	0	0	0	D	0	0	0	0	0
0		-	Wantle Rd to Powells Rd	w	No Stopping		1	0	0	D	D	0	0	0	Ð	0	0	0
1					Unrestricted		13	10	11	11	12	12			13	13	12	10
0	-		Powels Rid to Orchard Rd	w	No Stopping No Stopping		1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
1			sovers have cruidite he		Unrestricted		13	13	13	13	12	12	10		11	8	7	7
0					No Stopping		1	D	0	0	0	0	D	0	0	0	D	0
0		Powells Rd	Mitchell Rotto Powels Ln	s	No Stopping		1	Ð	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	Ð	0
1					8P 8am-6pm Everyday		6	6	6	5	6	6	6	4	5	4	5	5
1					Mail Zone		1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
1	-				8P 8am-6pm Everyday		13	10	11	12	12	12	10	-	-	13	8	7
1				-	8P 8am-6pm Everyday90D Angle Parking		29	19 0	17	15 0	15 0	16 0	16	14	15 0	15 0	16 0	14
0	-		Powels Into Mitchell Rd	N	No Stopping No Stopping		1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
1					8P 8am-6pm Everyday		18	14	15	15	16	16	14	10000	13	14	12	13
1					Unrestricted	No Parking 6am-Midnight Wed-Fri , 12pm- Midnight Sat, 6pm-10pm Sun	1	D	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
1				1	8P 8am-6pm Everyday		2	2	2	2	2	2	1	2	2	1	2	1
0					No Stopping		1	D	0	0	D	0	0	Ð	D	D	0	0
1	-	Car Park - 9 Powells Rd	Ground Level		Unrestricted		130	25	31	30	27	23	-	-	26	31	26	19
1	-	Remains to	RootTop	w	Unrestricted	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	123	24	26 0	28 0	24	26	26 0	26 0	26 0	24 0	22 0	22
0		Powells Ln	Orchard Rd to Powells Rd	00	No Parking No Stopping		8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
0			Powells Rd to Orchard Rd	E	No Stopping		12	0	0	0	0	0	D	0	0	0	0	0
0		Wattle Rd	Short St to Mitchell Rd	N	No Stopping		1	0	0	0	0	0	Û	0	0	D	0	0
1					Unrestricted		8	6	6	6	5	4	5	6	5	4	5	6
0					No Stopping		1	0	0	0	0	0	ß	0	0	0	0	0
0	,,		Mitchell Rd to Brook vale Self Storage	N	No Stopping		1	0	0	0	0	0	0		0 4	0	0	0
1					2P8:30am-6pmMon-Fii,8:30am-12:30pm Sat 8P 8am-6pm Everyday		0 16	10	3	1	2	4	1	2	4	1	12	2
0					No Stopping		1	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0
0			Opp Brookvale Self Storage to Short St	s	No Stopping		1	0	0	0	D	0	0	0	0	0	Ð	0
1					Unrestricted		15	13	13	13	13	12	12	12	12	12	13	13
1					1P8:30am-6pmMon-Fri,8:30am-12:30pm Sat		2	1	1	1	1	1	2	-	2	2	2	2
1					Unrestricted		5	5	5	5	5	4	5	-	5	5	4	5
0	-	Short St	Wattle Rd to Amourin St	E	No Stopping No Stopping		1	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	0 0	0	0	0
1		and at	value to to Articular st	-	Unrestricted		5	5	5	5	4	5	4	-	5	4	5	5
0					No Stopping		1	D	0	0	0	0	D	-	0	0	D	0
0			Amourin St to William St	Е	No Stopping		1	Ð	0	0	D	0	D	0	Ð	0	Û	0
1					Unrestricted		9	9	9	9	9	9	8	8	8	7	7	7
0					No Stopping		1	0	0	0	0	8		-	-	0	D	0
0	-		William St to Wattle Rd	w	No Stopping Unrestricted		1 20	0 17	0 18	0 18	0 18	8 19	0 19	-	D 19	0 19	0 19	0 19
0	-				No Stopping		1	0	18	18	18	19	19	0	19	0	19	19
0		Amourin St.	Short St to 48 Amourin St	N	No Stopping		1	D	0	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	D	0
1					Unrestricted		16	14	12	12	14	14	14	14	14	14	10	10
0					No Stopping		1	0	0	0	D	0	-	0	0	0	0	0
0			35 Amourin St to Short St	s	No Stopping		1	0	0	D	0	0	3		0	D	0	0
1	-				Unrestricted		17	14	15	15	15	15		-	7	9	9	9
	DUDI IO	CAPACITY			No Stopping		1	0 548	0 548	0 548	0 548	0 548	0 548	0 548	0 548	0 548	0 548	0 549
0		UAFAULT I						100000				-	-		-		-	
0		OCCUPANCIES						274	286	285	282	275	269	271	267	259	245	ZRE
0	PUBLIC	OCCUPANCIES VACANCIES						274	286 262	285 263	282 266	275 273		-	- Contract	259 289	245 303	236 312